Court of Appeal 2<sup>nd</sup> Civil No. B229656

IN THE

SUPREME COURT FILED

SUPREME COURT

OCT 1 0 2012

OF THE

OCT I U ZUIZ

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

ASSESSOR FOR COUNTY OF SANTA BARBARA
Plaintiff & Appellant

CRC 8.25(b)

VS.

ASSESSMENT APPEALS BOARD NO. 1
Defendant & Respondent

After Decision By The Court Of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division 6
No. B229656

Appeal from the Superior Court of California, County of Santa Barbara The Hon. James W. Brown, Judge (case number 1244457)

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

SANTA BARBARA COUNTY COUNSEL

DENNIS A. MARSHALL, SBN 116347
County Counsel
Marie A. LaSala, SBN 144865
Senior Deputy County Counsel

### ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the Second District Court of Appeal erred in holding that the 1988 amendment of Revenue and Taxation Code section 62.1, requires assessors to value one class of resident-owned mobilehomes at a small fraction of their fair market value in violation of the *uniformity* and acquisition cost requirements of the California Constitution, the general Revenue and Taxation statutes that govern the valuation of all real property and in contravention of settled precedent from this Court. (Cal. Const. art. XIII, § 1, art. XIIIA, § 2; Rev. & Tax. Code §§ 51 & 110; Armstrong v. County of San Mateo (1983) 146 Cal.App.3d 597, 607.)

#### WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The published Opinion ("Opinion") issued in this case of first impression presents important questions of law which have statewide importance because it directs county assessors to abandon the acquisition cost valuation system mandated by articles XIII and XIIIA of the California Constitution and the general Revenue and Taxation Code provisions that make the taxable value of real property dependent on its purchase price. (See Opinion, Attachment 1.) In direct contravention of the Legislature's stated intent, the Opinion creates an unauthorized

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The underlying appeal involves the interpretation of subsection (c) of Revenue & Taxation Code ("R & T Code") § 62.1 as it existed in 2001, the year in which the 26 individual mobilehome properties sold. Subsection (c) was subsequently relettered subdivision (b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The term "mobilehome" refers to the individual mobile home space/site and the mobilehome coach located on that space unless otherwise indicated.

judicial exemption from full taxation for one class of resident-owned mobilehomes.

The Opinion takes the law of property taxation in an improper and unprecedented direction by directing county assessors to:

- Abandon the California Constitution's acquisition cost valuation system; a system that makes the taxable value of property dependent on its sales price (Cal. Const. art. XIII, § 1 & art. XIIIA, § 2);
- Disregard the "purchase price presumption" mandated by
  Revenue and Taxation Code section 110 which directs that
  when a change in ownership of real property occurs, the
  real property must be reassessed at its "fair market value"
  or "full cash value" and the purchase price paid for real
  property in an arms' length transaction is rebuttably
  presumed to be its fair market value or full cash value;
- Ignore the "appraisal unit" mandated by Revenue and Taxation Code section 51 which requires assessment of the fair market value based on the "appraisal unit that persons in the marketplace commonly buy and sell as a unit ...." (Rev. & Tax. Code § 51, subd. (d)); and
- Assess a single class of resident-owned mobilehomes at a small fraction of what they are purchased for in open market, arms-length transactions.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The 26 Rancho Goleta and Silver Sand properties at issue sold from a low of \$165,000 to a high of \$325,000. The unprecedented method of appraisal adopted by the Opinion slashed their taxable values to approximately 33% for the Rancho Goleta properties and a mere 15% for the Silver Sands properties. [Administrative Record ("Admin Record") Vol. 1, Tab 16 APP000174-000193 & Tab 24 APP000215-000222; and Vol. 18, Tab 255, AAB003712-3713.]

As explained in the dissenting opinion authored in this case by Justice Yegan, "[t]he majority opinion and the result it reaches are at variance with these constitutional and statutory provisions." (Dissenting Opinion at p. 1.) Misinterpreting the language of subsection (c) of section 62.1 and the Legislature's stated intent, the Opinion engages in judicial activism that profoundly alters long-standing valuation methods relied upon by all 58 county assessors when it:

- Directs county assessors to disregard specific guidelines regarding the valuation of resident-owned mobilehomes provided by the SBE;
- Directs county assessors to ignore what actually happens in the market place and to value all the real property in the entire mobilehome park every time one of the mobilehome spaces within it is sold to a third party; and
- Directs county assessors to then divide the total value of the park by the number of spaces it contains to determine the taxable value of the individual space that changed ownership.
- "[This] 'one size fits all' valuation method ignores the reality of the marketplace. For example, there is no logical rationale that could support assessing a mobilehome 'unit' on the ocean at the same value as a 'unit' in the interior of a mobilehome park." (Dissenting Opinion at p. 2.)

The Opinion attempts to justify its decision to abandon Revenue and Taxation Code sections 110 and 51 by characterizing them as "general statutes [that] have no application where, as here, a specific statutory provision [section 62.1] covering the subject has been enacted." (Opinion at p. 14.) This conclusion is fatally flawed because it fails to recognize the fact that sections 110 and 51 are mandatory statutes of general application which flow directly from article XIII, section 1 and article XIIIA, section 2 of the California Constitution. As stated in the dissenting Opinion, the majority's interpretation of section 62.1 cannot stand because "[a] statute may not trump a constitutional provision. (*Legislature v. Deukmajian* (1983) 34 Cal.3d 658, 674; *Hays v.* Wood (1979) 25 Cal.3d 772, 795.)" (Dissenting Opinion, pp. 2-3.)

The Opinion fails to recognize that section 62.1 was enacted against the backdrop of the California Constitution and the general taxation statutes that effectuate this state's system of property taxation. Absent constitutional authority or express statutory language, a specific statute like section 62.1 cannot repeal by implication, general tax statutes such as Revenue and Taxation Code sections 110 and 51 which require all property to be assessed according to its fair market value as it is commonly bought and sold in the marketplace. As explained in this Court's recent decision in *Dicon Fiberoptics, Inc. v. Franchise Tax Board*:

"In the absence of express language limiting that background law, we are reluctant to . . . effectuate an implied repeal. [Citations omitted.] All presumptions are against a repeal by implication. Absent an express

declaration of legislative intent, we will find an implied repeal only when there is no rational basis for harmonizing the two potentially conflicting statutes, and the statutes are 'irreconcilable, clearly repugnant, and so inconsistent that the two cannot have concurrent operation."

(Dicon (2012) Cal. Lexis 3819, 12.)

The implied repeal of Revenue and Taxation Code sections 110 and 51 ordered by the Opinion cannot stand because sections 110 and 51 are not "irreconcilable, clearly repugnant or so inconsistent" with section 62.1 that they cannot have concurrent operation. The Opinion actually confirms this fact on page 9 when it states "the Assessor presents a reasonable method for the taxation of changes in mobilehome ownership, but it is not the method set forth in section 62.1, subdivision (c). The Assessor is free to recommend a legislative change but not to ignore an existing statute." (Opinion at p. 9.)

The Opinion misses the point. "[S]tatutes must be harmonized, both internally and with each other, to the extent possible." (Prudential Reinsurance Co. v. Superior Court (1992) 3 Cal. 4th 1118, 1145 citing Woods v. Young (1991) 53 Cal.3d 315, 323 & California Mfrs. Assn. v. Public Utilities Com. (1979) 24 Cal.3d 836, 844.) The "reasonable" interpretation urged by the Assessor, and the State Board of Equalization and the California Assessors' Association complies with

The SBE drafted, co-sponsored and analyzed the 1988 amendment of R & T Code § 62.1 for the Legislature. It also drafted the guidelines which instruct all county assessors how to assess individual mobilehome interests

the well-established rules of statutory construction by harmonizing section 62.1 both internally and externally with all other relevant provisions of the Revenue and Taxation Code, Property Tax Rules and articles XIII and XIIIA of the California Constitution.

The Opinion's interpretation of subsection (c) of section 62.1 is internally inconsistent with another part of section 62.1 which confirms the relevance of the purchase price (consideration) paid for individual mobilehomes. Subsection (b) (6) of section 62.1, as amended in 2002, requires the following:

# 62.1 "Change in ownership" exclusion

"(b)(6) Within 30 days of a change in ownership, the new resident owner or other purchaser or transferee of a mobilehome within a mobilehome park that does not utilize recorded deeds to transfer ownership interest in the spaces or lots shall file a change in ownership statement described in either 480 or 480.2."

(Rev. & Tax. Code § 62.1(b)(6) as amended in 2002.)

when they change ownership. "The duties, rules, regulations, and instructions specified in [Government Code] section 15606 shall include provisions for mobilehomes which are subject to local property taxation." (Gov. Code § 15606.1) The SBE and California Assessors' Association also filed amicus briefs supporting the Assessor in the underlying appeal.

Section 480, in turn, requires mobilehome transferees to submit a verified change in ownership statement that discloses the amount of consideration paid for the property:

# 480. Change in ownership statement

"The information shall include, but not be limited to, a description of the property, the parties to the transaction, the date of acquisition, the amount, if any, of the consideration paid for the property, whether paid in money or otherwise, and the terms of the transaction. The change in ownership statement shall not include any question that is not germane to the assessment function."

(Rev. & Tax. Code § 480, emphasis added.)

The plain language of section 480, as incorporated by reference in subsection (b)(6) of section 62.1, requires buyers of mobilehomes to report the amount of "consideration paid" to purchase the property – this information is described by statute as "germane to the assessment function." This language provides a clear indication of the Legislature's intent that the purchase price paid by the market participants is an important ("germane") consideration that may not be disregarded by county assessors when determining the market value of mobilehome properties.

The Opinion puts county assessors in the impossible position of having to determine the "fair market value" of individual mobilehome properties which have "changed ownership" without considering the purchase prices paid for those properties. Estimating

the value of the entire mobilehome park and dividing that value by the number of spaces does not solve the problem for several reasons:

Resident-owned mobilehome <u>parks</u> do not sell as a unit, each resident-owner retains the exclusive right to sell his or her individual property interest. For example, the 26 mobilehome properties at issue in this case were each sold independently by their respective resident-owners.

1

The only way to accurately estimate the total value of the entire mobilehome park is to determine how much each individual mobilehome would sell for on the open market.

1

Market value is based on what persons in the marketplace will pay in an arms-length transaction.

Ţ

If assessors are not allowed to consider the purchase price paid for similar residentowned mobilehome properties they are left with no relevant or competent appraisal data. The senselessness of the valuation method adopted by the Opinion is illustrated by the following example. Assume one Rancho Goleta mobilehome sells on January 1, 2013. Under the valuation method dictated by the Opinion, county assessors would need to estimate the value of the entire 28 acres of land and all 200 mobilehome spaces. That value would be divided by 200 to determine the taxable value of the one mobilehome that sold. If a second mobilehome sells on June 1, 2013, the entire park would have to be reappraised again because the sales are more than 90 days apart.<sup>5</sup>

This impractical, costly and unnecessary process will not only apply to changes in ownership. It will also apply to taxpayer requests for reduced assessment under Revenue and Taxation Code section 51 (decline in market value). Requests for reduced assessment under section 51 have become very common due to the declining real estate market. The Opinion will make it difficult if not impossible for county assessors and taxpayers to determine when the assessed value of an individual mobilehome may be reduced due to a decline in market value because of the Opinion's refusal to consider the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Under Rev. & Tax. Code §110.1(a), real property must be valued as of the date of purchase or change of ownership. (*Schoderbek v. Carlson* (1984) 152 C.A.3d 1027, 1034, ["full cash value" is determined by separate appraisal as of actual date of purchase]; see also 9 Witkin Sum. Cal. Law Tax § 145 & Rev. & Tax. Code § 402.5 which provides that only properties which sold within the 90-day period preceding a change of ownership may be considered when determining fair market value. This 90-day rule is reinforced by §1609.8 and Property Tax Rule 324 which make the rule mandatory.

purchase prices paid for individual mobilehomes and its nonsensical designation of the entire mobilehome park as the "appraisal unit."

Under section 51 the taxable value of real property is the lesser of its fair market value or full cash value and its enrolled base value. In layman's terms, that means a taxpayer may request a reduction in the taxable value of real property whenever its market value falls below the value on the county tax roll.

The interpretation adopted in the Opinion frustrates this process because under Revenue and Taxation Code section 51 "real property" means the appraisal unit that "persons in the marketplace commonly buy and sell as a unit." Based on the 26 individual sales at issue in the underlying appeal, it is undisputed that the only real property commonly bought and sold in the marketplace are individual mobilehomes. Ignoring this statute of general application, the Opinion directs county assessors to disregard what people commonly buy in sell in the marketplace and directs them to value the entire mobilehome park as the "appraisal unit" even though entire mobilehome parks are not commonly bought and sold in the marketplace.

The section 51 dilemma is just one of the intractable problems created by the Opinion's unprecedented decision to abandon the basic constitutional and statutory provisions governing real property taxation. It illustrates the Opinion's failure to understand and apply the legislative intent behind section 62.1. It also illustrates why deference should be given to the interpretation provided by the SBE, the agency charged by the Legislature to maintain uniform assessment practices throughout the state. (See Gov't. Code §

15606(d), Rev. & Tax. Code § 401.5; Glidden Co. v. Alameda County (1970) 5 Cal.App.3d 371; Xerox Corp. v. Orange County (1977) 66 Cal.App.3d 746, 753.)

# FACTUAL and PROCEDURAL HISTORY

#### A. Statement of Facts

Rancho Goleta and Silver Sands are both resident-owned mobilehome parks located in the unincorporated area of Santa Barbara County. They were originally owned by investors who rented spaces to the residents. Rent control established the monthly rent paid by the residents to the investor-owners. [Admin. Record Vol. 1, Tab 7, APP000085, Ins. 2-9 & APP000087 Ins. 3-6].

In 1992 the Rancho Goleta residents formed a non-profit corporation to purchase their mobilehome park from the investor-owner. Pursuant to subdivision (a) of 62.1, this transaction enjoyed the one-time reassessment exemption. In 1998, the Silver Sands residents did the same and also enjoyed the one-time reassessment exemption provided by section 62.1(a). [Admin. Record, Vol. 6, Tab 91, APP001264.] To finance the purchases, the residents of each mobilehome park divided the purchase price of the real property into equal shares and sold those shares as memberships in the parks. [Admin. Record, Vol. 1, Tab 7, APP000085, Ins 17-25.] This is how the non-profit corporations acquired fee title to all of the real property in their respective mobilehome parks. [Admin Record, Vol. 1, Tab 11 APP000129-0132.]

## B. Procedural History

Representatives for the Rancho Goleta and Silver Sands mobilehome parks initiated proceedings in this case in 2001 by filing Applications for Changed Assessment appealing the value the 26 separate mobilehome ownership interests that sold in 2001. [Admin. Record Vol. 1, Tab 3, AAB000014, Tab 4, AAB000033, AAB000045 & AAB000057.]

Because the Applications addressed the same basic issues, the Assessment Appeals Board ("Board") consolidated the Applications. The consolidated Applications were later bifurcated into 2 phases. Phase 1 primarily addressed questions of law - the interpretation of Revenue and Taxation Code section 62.1 and identification of the proper assessment method. Phase 2 focused on the valuation of the 26 transferred ownership interests using the interpretation of Revenue and Taxation Code section 62.1 and the assessment method dictated by the Board in Phase 1. [Admin. Record, Vol. 18, Tab 254, AAB003625-003627.]

The Board issued final decisions for Phase 1 and Phase 2 on October 17, 2006. [Admin. Record Vol. 16, Tab 254, AAB003621-3678 & AAB003680-3715.] The Assessor filed a Writ of Mandate in Santa Barbara Superior Court on April 17, 2007. [Appellant's Appendix ("Appendix"), Vol. 1, Tab 1, 00001-00119.] The Writ raised mixed questions of law and fact concerning the interpretation of Revenue and Taxation Code section 62.1 and its application to the sale of 26 individual mobilehome interests in Rancho Goleta and Silver Sands in 2001.

The Writ challenged the Board's legal conclusions as well as the evidence that purportedly supported the drastically reduced property values suggested by the appraisals submitted by the Real Parties. [Appendix, Vol. 1, Tab 1, 00001-00119 & 00114-00115.]

On November 12, 2008, the Superior Court action was bifurcated into Phase 1 and Phase 2, as it was when it was heard by the Board. The Superior Court hearing on Phase 1 was held on March 27, 2009. A Judgment Denying Phase 1 was entered three months later on June 25, 2009. [Appendix, Vol. 2, Tab 21, 00355-00356.]

The hearing on Phase 2 was heard on January 26, 2010. After the hearing, the court ordered each party to file a list of issues to be decided along with proposed findings for each issue. The Assessor filed a Post-Trial List of Issues on February 1, 2010. [Appendix, Vol. 3, Tab 34, 00561-00584.]

The Board and Real Parties filed a Joint Post Trial List of Issues on February 1, 2010. [Appendix, Vol. 3, Tab 35, 00585-00653.] On February 8, 2010, the Board and Real Parties filed a responsive Joint Post Trial Brief [Appendix, Vol. 3, Tab 35, 00585-00653] and on February 10, 2010, the Assessor also filed a Revised Post Trial Brief. [Appendix, Vol. 3, Tab 36, 00727-00790.]

The Tentative Decision for the entire Writ was issued more than three months later on May 7, 2010. It adopted all of the issues and proposed findings submitted by the Board and Real Parties.

[Appendix, Vol. 3, Tab 41, 00796-00837.]

The Assessor timely filed Objections to Tentative Statement of Decision and Request for Clarification on June 15, 2010. [Appendix, Vol. 4, Tab 44, 00842-00851.] The Court did not issue a ruling on

the Assessor's Objections or Request for Clarification. The final Judgment and Order Denying Petition for Writ of Mandate was entered on October 21, 2010. [Appendix, Vol. 4, Tab 47, 00871-00873] and the Notice of Entry of Judgment was served on December 2, 2010 [Appendix, Vol. 4, Tab 50, 00917-00963].

The Assessor timely filed a Notice of Appeal on December 16, 2010. [Appendix, Vol. 4, Tab 52, 00966-00967.]

The State Board of Equalization and the California Assessors' Association filed amicus briefs in support of the Assessor in October 2011.

The Court of Appeal issued an Opinion on May 16, 2012. The Assessor filed a Petition for Rehearing. The Court of Appeal issued an Order granting rehearing on June 13, 2012.

The Court of Appeal issued an Opinion on Rehearing on August 30, 2012. The Assessor filed a Second Petition for Rehearing on September 14, 2012. The Court of Appeal denied the Second Petition for Rehearing on October 1, 2012.

# BACKGROUND AND LEGISLATIVE HISTORY OF REVENUE AND TAXATION CODE § 62.1

Before 1980, most mobilehome parks were owned by municipalities or investors who rented spaces to low and moderate income residents, many of which were subject to rent control. In response to increasing park rents, the closure of some parks and the displacement of many low to moderate income residents, the concept of resident-owned mobilehome parks developed in the mid-1980s.

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