IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ASSESSOR FOR COUNTY OF SANTA BARBARA

Petitioner and Appellant

SUPREME COURT FILED

VS.

ASSESSMENT APPEALS BOARD NO. 1

Respondent

NOV - 7 2012

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

RANCHO GOLETA LAKESIDE MOBILEERS, INC. and SILVER SANDS VILLAGE, INC.

Deputy

Real Parties in Interest and Respondents

Petition for Review from Decision of the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Six – Case No. B229656

Appeal from the Superior Court of Santa Barbara County The Honorable James W. Brown - Case No. 01244457

RESPONDENTS' JOINT ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SANTA BARBARA COUNTY COUNSEL
DENNIS A. MARSHALL (SBN 116347), County Counsel

Table of Contents

		<u>Page</u>	
D.	Response to Assessor's Arguments Concerning Full Cash Value, Purchase		
	Price Presumption and Appraisal Unit	29	
	Presumption & Full Cash Value	31	
	2. Section 51(d) and the Appraisal Unit	35	
E.	Response to Assessor's Constitutional Arguments		
F.	Response to Assessor's Other Miscellaneous Arguments		
CON	CLUSION	39	

Following Conclusion:

Certificate of Word Count

Proof of Service

Table of Authorities

			<u>Page</u>		
California Cases					
Auto Equity Superior Co	16				
Calif. Youth Personnel I	22				
Fukada v. C	21				
Prudential Insurance Co. of America v. City and County of San Francisco (1987) 191 Cal. App.3d 1142					
Yamaha Co of Equaliza	20				
California Constitution					
Constitution, Article XIII Section 1 Section 2		<i>I</i> ,	30 35		
Constitution, Article XIII. Section 2		<i>IA</i>	30		
California Codes					
Code of Civ Section	vil Procedure 1094.5(c)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	21, 22		
Revenue & Section	Taxation Cod 51 51(d) 60 62.1 62.1(a) 62.1(b)	de	30, 31 31, 35, 38 13 passim 4, 5, 8, 13,		

Table of Authorities

		<u>Page</u>				
California Codes (continued)						
Revenue & Taxation C Section 62.1(c) 62.1(d) 65.1(b) 110 110(a) 110(b) 1288.10 5803(b) 5810	Code (continued)	passim 4, 5 4, 26-28 30, 31, 34, 36, 38 31, 32, 34, 36 31, 32, 34 28, 29 6, 7, 36 9				
California Regulations Code of Regulations, Title 18, Division 1, Chapter 1 Property Tax Rule 2 (a) – (c)						
Rule 8.500(b)(1) Rule 8.500(b)(2) Rule 8.500(b)(3) Rule 8.504(b)(1) Rule 8.1105(c)(4)		15, 16 15, 37 15 8, 11, 14 15				
Miscellaneous						
CEB, California Administrative Mandamus (updated 2012)						
State Board of Equalization, Assessor's Handbook Section 501, Basic Appraisal (1997, updated Jan. 2002)						

JOINT ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Respondent ASSESSMENT APPEALS BOARD ("AAB"), and Real Parties in Interest/Respondents RANCHO GOLETA LAKESIDE MOBILEERS, INC. ("RG, Inc.") and SILVER SANDS VILLAGE, INC. ("SSV, Inc.") (collectively, "Real Parties") jointly answer the Petition for Review of Petitioner/Appellant ASSESSOR ("Assessor").

The Petition for Review seeks review of the Court of Appeal's majority Opinion on Rehearing ("Opinion"). The Opinion affirms the two-part "AAB Decision" [AR-v18-t254-p003621-003678; AR-v18-t255-p000368-0003714] and the Superior Court judgment and attached "Statement of Decision" [Appendix-v4-t47-p000871-000914]. ¹

At issue in this case is the proper methodology for assessments of the "RG Park," the mobilehome park owned by RG, Inc., and the "SSV Park," the mobilehome park owned by SSV, Inc. ² The Opinion rejects the methodology suggested by the *staff* of the State Board of Equalization ("SBE") in an *advisory* letter to assessors ("LTA").

The AAB and the Real Parties (collectively, "Respondents") respectfully submit that the Petition for Review should be denied.

The Administrative Record ("AR") and the Appellant's Appendix ("Appendix") are cited by volume, tab and page number. For example, AR-v18-t254-p003621-003678 cited above references Administrative Record-volume 18-tab 254-pages 003621-003678.

This case arises from assessment appeals for the RG Park and SSV Park for 2002-2003. Similar assessment appeals are pending for each subsequent year, which the parties have agreed not to schedule for hearing until there is a final decision in this case.

OVERVIEW OF MOBILEHOME PARKS AND MOBILEHOMES

This case does not arise in a vacuum. The specific issues of this case arise inside the general context of real property and tax assessment concepts affecting mobilehome parks and mobilehomes. $\frac{3}{2}$

Therefore, an overview of mobilehome parks and mobilehomes is provided at the outset of this Answer, as was done in earlier briefing in the courts below.

A. Character and Ownership of Mobilehome Parks.

1. Subdivided Mobilehome Parks

The land of some mobilehome parks has been subdivided -- i.e., the mobilehome spaces have been parcelized or condominiumized by a recorded subdivision map.

In a subdivided mobilehome park, each subdivided space is separately owned and there are many owners of the real property of the mobilehome park.

Title to (ownership of) such individually-owned mobilehome spaces is transferred by a deed recorded with the County Recorder.

Each owner of a subdivided mobilehome space has the ability to provide a deed of trust on his/her separate identifiable real property, and therefore to obtain a residential real estate mortgage.

In this Answer, when referring to a "mobilehome," Respondents refer to personal property only (as did the Court of Appeal majority, the trial judge and the AAB). The Assessor's unusual definition of "mobilehome" in the Petition for Review (fn. 2, p. 1) is <u>not</u> used.

The rights and duties of the owners of subdivided mobilehome spaces are similar to the rights and duties of owners in other real estate subdivisions. Such rights and duties are not structured or enforced as a landlord-tenant relationship.

2. Unsubdivided (Rental) Mobilehome Parks

Most mobilehome parks have not been subdivided, and are fundamentally different than subdivisions.

Unsubdivided mobilehome parks are <u>rental</u> properties, in which each mobilehome space is the subject of a written lease (or "occupancy agreement") between the owner of the mobilehome park (as landlord) and the owner of the mobilehome located on the rental space (as tenant). In the absence of such landlord-tenant relationships, there would be no way to structure, regulate and enforce the rights and responsibilities of the landowner and the mobilehome owners.

Mobilehome park tenants cannot obtain real estate mortgage loans since they do not own real property against which a deed of trust can be recorded. Their "mobilehome mortgage loans," in which the collateral is the mobilehome, bear significantly higher rates of interest than do residential real estate mortgage loans.

When a mobilehome that will remain in a rental park is sold, this sale is accompanied by either the assignment of the existing lease to the buyer or the execution of a new lease by the buyer.

The lease for a particular space grants the mobilehome buyer the right to retain the mobilehome on, and to personally reside at, the space.

Some rental mobilehome parks, like the RG Park and SSV Park, are owned by an entity whose shareholders or members are tenants of spaces and reside in the park.

B. Reassessment(s) of the Real Property of a Mobilehome Park

1. Subdivided Mobilehome Spaces.

If a mobilehome park has been subdivided, then, upon sale of an individual mobilehome space (i.e., a subdivided parcel or condominium), such individual mobilehome space is reassessed as of the date of purchase, pursuant to California *Revenue and Taxation Code* \S 65.1(b). 4

2. Unsubdivided/Rental Mobilehome Parks

When a rental mobilehome park is purchased by an investor, then the real property is reassessed based on value of the park as of the date of purchase, under standard procedures applicable in most (but not all) real property reassessments after a "change in ownership."

However, if a rental mobilehome park is purchased by a corporation whose shareholders or members are a majority of tenants (residents) of the park, then the real property is not reassessed as of the date of purchase, pursuant to Section 62.1(a). Such exclusion from reassessment occurs due to the Legislature's desire to promote such purchases of mobilehome parks. (See Section 62.1(d).)

Unless otherwise indicated, all references to statutes in this Answer are to the California *Revenue & Taxation Code* as it existed in 2001 (when the specific reassessment events in the AAB Decision occurred).

If a mobilehome park is excluded from reassessment under Section 62.1(a), then the Legislature has provided for partial reassessments of the park property at later dates, triggered by transfers of a share or membership in the corporation. (Section 62.1(c).) $\frac{5}{2}$

The proper reassessment of the RG Park and SSV Park, pursuant to Section 62.1(c), is the subject of this case.

C. Character of Mobilehomes as Personal Property

Mobilehomes (also called "manufactured housing") are *personal* property.

Each mobilehome is hauled (in one or more parts) on its axles and wheels from the factory to a mobilehome space where supporting piers are attached.

Importantly, the piers rest on, but are not attached to, the land.

If a mobilehome is permanently affixed to a foundation, then it changes character and <u>becomes real property</u>.

The affixing of a mobilehome to a foundation typically occurs on subdivided mobilehome spaces and on larger real properties, but does not occur on the leased spaces of rental mobilehome parks.

(The mobilehomes located in the RG Park and SSV Park are personal property, set on piers.)

The subdivisions of Section 62.1, <u>as in effect in 2001</u>, have been relettered as follows:

Subdivision as of 2001	Subdivision after 2001
(a)	(a)(1)
(b)	(a)(2)
(c)(1), (2) & (3)	(b)(1), (2) & (3)
(d)	(c)

Mobilehomes are registered with either the Department of Housing and Community Development ("HCD") or the Department of Motor Vehicles ("DMV").

When a mobilehome in a rental park is sold, then title to the mobilehome is re-registered with HCD or DMV, which completes the transfer of ownership of the mobilehome. (For examples of certificates of title for mobilehomes in the SSV Park, see AR-v13-t181.)

D. Taxation and Assessment of Mobilehomes

Many, but not all, mobilehomes are subject to property tax. Mobilehomes first registered on or after July 1, 1980 are subject to property tax, while mobilehomes first registered before July 1980 (usually, DMV-registered) usually are not subject to property tax.

The sale of a mobilehome that is subject to property tax and located in a rental mobilehome park is reassessed under Section 5803(b).

Personal property taxes are paid by the buyer (owner) of the mobilehome, based on the reassessment valuation of such mobilehome.

The personal property taxes are secured by the mobilehome (including the possessory interest -- i.e., the lease on the underlying rental space), but not by any ownership (fee) interest in real property. *See* Statement of Decision [Appendix-v4-t47-p000897-898].

Under Section 5803(b), there is not a "purchase price presumption" in the reassessment process. Without regard to a mobilehome's actual sales price, the Assessor must reassess a mobilehome that is subject to property tax and located on "rented or leased land" using the NADA Guide (blue-book) value.

The AR contains legislative history for Section 5803(b). AR-v1-t19-23. When Section 5803(b) was enacted, the "legislative intent [was] that site values be excluded from the assessed value of mobilehomes located on rented or leased land." [AR-v1-t21-p000209-000210.]

E. Mobilehome Ressessments in 2001 in the Santa Barbara Area The Assessor acknowledged in the AAB proceedings that:

- 1. After the sale of mobilehomes subject to property tax in the RG Park and SSV Park, such mobilehomes were reassessed using the NADA Guide, and the resulting tax bills, based on such assessed values, were sent to the persons owning such mobilehomes;
- 2. This is the same manner that mobilehomes were reassessed (and their owners were taxed) in mobilehome parks that the Assessor agreed were rental mobilehome parks (the Assessor disputes whether the RG Park and SSV Park are rental mobilehome parks); and
- 3. In 2001, mobilehomes in rental mobilehome parks in southern Santa Barbara County typically sold for prices significantly in excess of their NADA Guide values and the reassessment values for the mobilehomes accordingly were much lower than the actual sales prices.

The difference between the actual sales price of a mobilehome in a rental park and its reassessment valuation per Section 5803(b) was termed "non-assessable site value" in LTA 99/87 (more on this below).

Consistent with the Section 5803(b) legislative history, this "non-assessable site value" reflects the value of the possessory interest (lease) of the rental space and trades in the marketplace as part of the price for the mobilehome. Such possessory interest, the tenant's interest in the lease, is held (owned) by the mobilehome owner (tenant).

DISCUSSION OF THE FACTS OF THIS CASE AND WHY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW DOES NOT SET FORTH AN "ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW"

The Petition for Review does not contain an "issue presented for review" that conforms to California *Rules of Court*, Rule 8.504(b)(1). ⁶

First, the "issue presented for review" in the Petition for Review is not "[framed]... in terms of the facts of the case," as required by Rule 8.504(b)(1).

In the Petition for Review, the Assessor asserts its factual contentions as if they are the facts of the case. They are not.

The facts of this case are set forth in the AAB's detailed factual findings and were summarized in the Opinion. As stated by the Court of Appeal, the facts of this case are:

"In 1992 and 1998, residents of the Parks formed the Nonprofit Corporations which purchased the Parks including the underlying real property. ... each resident who wished to do so purchased a membership in the Nonprofit Corporation. A membership included an undivided interest in the Nonprofit Corporation, but not a direct ownership interest in the real property, and no right to occupy a specific space in the Park. The right to occupy a specific space in the Park was conveyed by a lease between the Nonprofit Corporation and the owner of the mobilehome. ... Pursuant to Section 62.1, subdivision (a), the transfer of ownership of the Parks to the Nonprofit Corporations was a [nonassessable] event. But a change of assessment of the underlying real property is triggered by each subsequent sale of a

In this Answer, all references to a "Rule" are to the California *Rules of Court*, unless otherwise stated.

membership in the Nonprofit Corporation which [owns] the particular Park. Although a mobilehome is typically sold with a membership, reassessment of the mobilehome is separate from the reassessment of the Parks. The mobilehome is assessed as personal property (§5810), and despite the absence of any formal change in ownership of the real property, a pro rata portion of the real property is deemed to change ownership for purposes of reassessment pursuant to section 62.1, subdivision (c)." Opinion, p. 2.

In contrast, the Assessor's factual contentions are that (1) individual mobilehome spaces *change ownership* with the transfer of a membership in RG, Inc. or SSV, Inc., (2) a membership gives its owner the right to occupy a specific space, and (3) the RG Park and SSV Park ceased to be rental mobilehome parks when they were purchased by RG, Inc. and SSV, Inc. (the Assessor has called this the "renter-fiction" in prior briefing).

The Assessor's factual contentions were rejected in the AAB's Decision and in all prior court proceedings.⁷

The AAB's detailed findings and discussion of evidence in Part 1 of the AAB Decision [AR-v18-t254-p003628-003636] were quoted at length in the Statement of Decision [Appendix-v4-t47-p000886-890].

The Superior Court ruled that substantial evidence was the standard of review and that substantial evidence supported the AAB's factual findings. Appendix-v4-t47-p 000895-896, 000898-899.

The Court of Appeal affirmed the Superior Court's rulings on such issues in the Opinion, at pp. 3-5.

Part 2 of the AAB Decision concisely summarizes the AAB's rejection of the Assessor's factual contentions:

"The Assessor mistakenly assumed that the members... did not lease the Spaces, and expressly stated that there were no leases ... There is no evidence to support that contention and, in fact, the evidence is uncontradicted that members ... did enter into leases ... for a leasehold right to a Space in [each] Park... The Assessor mistakenly assumed that the purchase of a membership interest was essentially the purchase of a fee interest in the Space." (AR-v18-t255-p003707)

In the Petition for Review, the Assessor *assumes* its factual contentions are true, although they are not true and are contrary to the evidence and were rejected in all underlying proceedings. §

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